
MINUTES – MARCH 5, 2018 

The Board of Aldermen of the Town of Gibsonville met at 7:00 pm for a regular meeting in the Town Hall.  The meeting 

was called to order by Mayor Williams.  Alderpersons Shepherd, Owen, Dean, O’Toole, and Pleasants were present.   Ben 

Baxley, Town Manager, and Laurie Yarbrough, Town Clerk, were present.  Recreation Director Mike Dupree, Police 

Chief Ron Parrish, Fire Chief James Todd, Town Attorney Doug Hoy, Planning Director Brandon Parker, Public Works 

Director Rob Elliott, Jeff Johnson with AWCK, Ethel Ann Younger, ABC Board Chairman Paul Koontz, and several 

residents were in attendance. 

Invocation  

Alderman O’Toole gave the invocation. 

 

Public Comments 

Josh Payne of 118 Eva Dr. stated he was a Police Officer with another Town. He expressed concern with comments that 

were recently made to The Times News about the Gibsonville Police Department. He asked the Mayor to talk with the 

Police Chief if he had concerns. 

Mayor Williams stated Gibsonville had a good Police Department and Fire Department.  He stated he had heard a lot of 

public comments since that article; the Police Department could possibly get two police officers. He stated it was up to the 

Board. He stated the Town Manager will come up with a budget and the Board would go from there. 

Mr. Payne stated he understood Town government and that there were other departments but this needed to be taken 

seriously.  He asked the Board not to put their selves in a position where they would be playing catch up down the road. 

Mayor Williams stated he appreciated Mr. Payne’s comments.  He stated it was up to the Town Manager to present a 

proposed budget to the Board. 

Approval of Agenda 

Alderman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman Owen, made a motion to approve the agenda.  The motion passed 

unanimously. 

Approval of Minutes 

Alderwoman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman Owen, made a motion to approve the minutes of February 5, 2018. The 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

Recognition of Past ABC Board Member 

Mayor Williams stated Ethel Anne Younger went off the Gibsonville ABC Board in December 2017 after serving nine 

years. Mayor Williams presented Mrs. Younger with a plague for her service on the Gibsonville ABC Board.  He thanked 

Mrs. Younger for her service and stated they appreciated all of the Gibsonville ABC Board. 

 

Ethel Anne Younger stated she appreciated the recognition. 

 

Paul Koontz, Gibsonville ABC Board Chairman, thanked Mrs. Younger for here service.  He stated they could not have 

done without Mrs. Younger and her experience. 

 

Appointment to Gibsonville Development Advisory Committee 

 Ben Baxley, Town Manager, stated GDAC was recommending the appointment of Ricky Cox of 106 Driftwood Dr. to 

the committee. He stated Mr. Cox was present. The Board was presented with Mr. Cox’s application. 

 

Alderman Owen, seconded by Alderman O’Toole, made a motion to appoint Ricky Cox to the GDAC committee.  The 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

Appointments to the Planning Board 

Ben Baxley, Town Manager, stated staff was recommending the appointment of Patty Roberts Collins of 115 Still Water 

Circle and P. Jean Hedrick of 1220 Candlewood Dr. as Alternate members of the Planning Board. The Board was 

presented with Mrs. Collins’ and Mrs. Hedrick’s applications. 

 

Alderman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman Owen, made a motion to appoint Patty Roberts Collins and P. Jean Hedrick 

to the Planning Board.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



-2- 

Tax Releases 

 

Acct#.         Name                    Value              New         Actual          Release  

                                                 Reduced         Value        Taxes            $____                                                                                                

All bills under $2.00                                                                                 50.28 

The following are all from Abbey Glen and have been double billed for several years, due to the County line dispute. 

170707     B. Dickens          releasing 4 years   (2014-2017)                    6490.96 

170706     E. Foster             releasing 4 years   (2014-2017)                    5662.78 

171220     P. Hord               releasing 2017                                              1375.44 

0221735   R. Filbey             releasing 2017                                              1297.72 

0221734   G. Miller             releasing 2017                                              1234.01 

0221736   R. Ratliff             releasing 2017                                              1328.76 

0217993   O. Bland              releasing 2017                                              1200.78 

0218612   D. Lingerfelt       releasing 2017                                              1164.84        

*Tax Releases are billing errors and value corrections made by Guilford or Alamance County; the Town gets its property 

values from Guilford and Alamance County Tax Departments.  These are released by Guilford or Alamance County tax 

departments and then given our tax department to be released by our board. 

Alderman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman Owen, made a motion to approve the tax releases.  The motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

Setting Tax Lien Sale Date for Unpaid Taxes 

Ben Baxley, Town Manager, stated the Tax Collector was asking the Board to set April 12, 2018 for the advertisement of 

the tax lien sale on unpaid taxes. A list of unpaid taxes was presented to the Board at the meeting. 

 

Alderman Owen stated he had talked with the Town Manager about a couple of corrections that needed to be made to the 

list. 

 

Alderman Pleasants stated every year the Board received this list of unpaid taxes and it is a long list; but he tax collections 

rate is 96% OR 97%. 

 

Mr. Baxley stated the tax collection rate was 97%.  He stated the Town still uses a legal service to help with unpaid past 

due tax collections. 

 

Alderman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman O’Toole, made a motion to set April 12, 2018 for tax lien sale date on unpaid 

taxes advertisement.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 

Downtown Revitalization Grant Projects 

Ben Baxley, Town Manager, stated bids were received on the Downtown Revitalization Grant Projects; bids were 

presented to the Board.  He stated staff was recommending the following: award bid for library improvements project in 

the amount of $63,974 to Stonewall Construction at the March 5
th
 meeting, award bid for public restroom project in the 

amount of $73,674 to Stonewall Construction at the April meeting ($62,326 funding from grant and $18,448  would be 

Town funding) would allow for a more accurate amount of funding, award bid for parking improvements at April meeting 

(bid info will be provided at April meeting), and remove sidewalk improvements project for $20,000 and stamped 

crosswalk installation project for $22,000 from the grant projects.   

 

Jeff Johnson with AWCK stated the public restroom bids came in higher than expected. He stated the low bidder on the 

Library was willing to hold his bid if needed. Mr. Johnson stated the contractor on the Library could move ahead if the 

Board wished. 

 

 



-3- 

Alderman Owen, seconded by Alderman Pleasants, made a motion to approve the library bid only; bid from Stonewall 

Construction for $63,974.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 

Mayor Williams stated the Board had approved going ahead with the library improvements. 

 

N.C. Railroad Fencing Installation Bids 

Ben Baxley, Town Manager, stated he had received three bids for fencing installation along the railroad corridor. He 

stated this was part of the agreement with N.C. Railroad; that the Town would install fencing along the railroad corridor 

from the overpass eastward for 1000 feet exchange for the NCRR painting the overpass. He recommended award the bid 

to the low bidder, Alamance Fence at a bid of $7,097. 

 

Alderman Owen, seconded by Alderman O’Toole, made a motion to approve the fence bid with Alamance Fence.  The 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

Resolution Exempting Pavement Condition Survey 

Ben Baxley, Town Manager, stated this Resolution authorizes the Town to exempt contracts for design services from 

qualifications-based selection requirements pursuant to G.S. 143-64.31 if the estimated fee is less than $50,000. A 

Pavement Condition Survey would assist the Town in establishing a uniform level-of-service for the pavement of Town 

streets and provide a guide for future spending.  

 

Alderman Shepherd asked if other Town’s did it this way. 

 

Mr. Baxley stated yes. 

 

Alderman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman Owen, made a motion to approve the Resolution Exempting Pavement 

Condition Survey.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 

Budget Ordinance Amendment #6 

Ben Baxley, Town Manager, stated Budget Ordinance Amendment #6 was needed to account for a Governors’ Crime 

Commission Grant ($19,650) , implement a railroad corridor fencing project ($8,500), and for a $100 donation to the 

Gibsonville Public Library. He stated additionally, the fee schedule was amended to set fees for the rental of the large 

multi-purpose room at the Gibsonville Community Center and seek to create price differences for residents and non-

residents for small and large meeting rooms as follows:   

  

 
Gibsonville Community Center Rental Fees 

  

   
 Resident  Non-Resident 

  
Open Gym Fee:  '0-17 years old  Free       Free 

  
Open Gym Fee:  18-99+ years old $1.00       $3.00 

     

  
Room Rentals: 

  

  
GYM - per hour* (up to six hours) $35.00/hr $55.00/hr 

  
GYM - per hour* (beyond six hours) $30.00/hr $50.00/hr 

  
        Floor covering $300  $300  

  
        Scoreboard & Operator $150  $150  

  
        Sound System $100  $100  

  
        *required attendant $13.00/hr $13.00/hr 

  

        Additional Program fees may apply based on size 
of event. 

  

     

  
Large Room - Half Day* $75 $100 

  
Large Room - Full Day* $150 $175 

  
        Kitchen $50 $50 

  
        Sound System $100 $100 

  
        TV $25 $25 

  
        Cleaning Fee (if requested) $100 $100 

  
        *required attendant $13.00/hr $13.00/hr 

  

        Additional Program fees may apply based on size 
of event. 

  

     

  
Smaller Room - Half Day* $50  $75  

  
Smaller Room - Full Day* $100  $125  

  
        Kitchen $25  $25  



  
        TV $25  $25  

  
        Cleaning Fee (if requested) $100  $100  

  
        *required attendant $13.00/hr $13.00/hr 

  

        Additional Program fees may apply based on size    
of event. 

  

     Alderman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman Pleasants, made a motion to approve Budget Ordinance Amendment #6.  The 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

TOWN OF GIBSONVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA 

2017-2018 BUDGET ORDINANCE AMENDMENT #6 

      BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Gibsonville, North Carolina, a meeting was 
held this the 5th day of March, 2018 that the following fund revenues and departmental expenditures 
together with certain restrictions and authorizations be amended. 

      

      SECTION I. GENERAL FUND 
     

 

 FY 2017-
2018  

   

 FY 2017-
2018  

Anticipated Revenues 
  

 Amendment  
  

 

 Current 
Budget  

 

 
Increase/Decrease  

 

 Revised 
Budget  

Taxes, Current Year 
             
2,701,961  

 
                           -  

 

             
2,701,961  

Taxes, Prior Years 
                  
29,700  

 
                           -  

 

                  
29,700  

Motor Vehicle Tax 
                
316,961  

 
                           -  

 

                
316,961  

Penalties & Interest 
                  
12,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
12,000  

Cemetery 
                  
13,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
13,000  

Recreation 
                  
76,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
76,000  

Sanitation Service Charge 
                
240,000  

 
                           -  

 

                
240,000  

Interest on Investments 
                    
7,500  

 
                           -  

 

                    
7,500  

Fire District Tax (Guilford) 
                  
12,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
12,000  

Library 
                    
1,500  

 
                           -  

 

                    
1,500  

Transfer Perpetual Care 
                    
2,700  

 
                           -  

 

                    
2,700  

Sale of Fixed Assets 
                    
5,000  

 
                           -  

 

                    
5,000  

Guilford County Funds 
                  
55,500  

 
                           -  

 

                  
55,500  

Code Enforcement/Planning 
                    
8,000  

 
                           -  

 

                    
8,000  

Brush/White Goods Pickup Fees 
                    
1,500  

 
                           -  

 

                    
1,500  

Transit Card Revenue 
                       
200  

 
                           -  

 

                       
200  

Miscellaneous 
                 
35,050  

 
                      100  

 

                 
35,150  

GHA 
                    
2,340  

 
                           -  

 

                    
2,340  

Stormwater Fee 
                  
29,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
29,000  

Solid Waste Disposal Tax 
                    
4,500  

 
                           -  

 

                    
4,500  



Intangible: Sales Tax (Alamance Co.) 
                
824,000  

 
                           -  

 

                
824,000  

Intangible: Sales Tax (Guilford Co.) 
                
423,000  

 
                           -  

 

                
423,000  

Utility Franchise 
                
380,000  

 
                           -  

 

                
380,000  

Beer & Wine 
                  
30,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
30,000  

Federal Drug Funds 
                    
4,323  

 
                           -  

 

                    
4,323  

Insurance Proceeds 
                       
670  

 
                           -  

 

                       
670  

Downtown Revitalization Grant 
                
160,000  

 
                           -  

 

                
160,000  

Governor's Crime Commission Grant 
                           
-  

 
                 19,650  

 

                 
19,650  

Appropriated Recreational Cap. Reserve 
                  
34,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
34,000  

Powell Bill Funds 
                
189,000  

 
                           -  

 

                
189,000  

Appropriated General Fund Balance 
               
353,112  

 
               (11,150) 

 

               
341,962  

Total Anticipated Revenues 
            
5,952,517  

 
                   8,600  

 

            
5,961,117  

      

      Authorized Expenditures 

 

 Current 
Budget  

 

 
Increase/Decrease  

 

 Revised 
Budget  

Governing Board 
                  
73,116  

 
                           -  

 

                  
73,116  

Administration 
            
1,224,693  

 
                   8,500  

 

            
1,233,193  

Police 
             
1,731,610  

 
                           -  

 

             
1,731,610  

Fire 
                
840,868  

 
                           -  

 

                
840,868  

Public Works Administration 
                
210,916  

 
                           -  

 

                
210,916  

Streets 
                
506,553  

 
                           -  

 

                
506,553  

Powell Bill 
                
136,600  

 
                           -  

 

                
136,600  

Sanitation 
                
311,110  

 
                           -  

 

                
311,110  

Recreation 
                
724,859  

 
                           -  

 

                
724,859  

Library 
               
133,021  

 
                      100  

 

               
133,121  

Cemetery 
                  
18,170  

 
                           -  

 

                  
18,170  

Contingency 
                  
41,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
41,000  

Total Authorized Expenditures 
            
5,952,517  

 
                   8,600  

 

            
5,961,117  

 
 
 

                           
-  

   

                           
-  

 
 
 
 
 

     



 
 
SECTION II. WATER & SEWER 

 

 Current 
Budget  

 

 
Increase/Decrease  

 

 Revised 
Budget  

Anticipated W&S Revenues 
      

Water Revenues 
     

Water Service Fees 
                
824,263  

 
                           -  

 

                
824,263  

Tapping Fees 
                       
450  

 
                           -  

 

                       
450  

Meter Setting 
                  
10,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
10,000  

Reconnection Fees 
                  
40,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
40,000  

Miscellaneous Revenues 
                    
9,900  

 
                           -  

 

                    
9,900  

Development Fees 
                  
36,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
36,000  

Internet Convenience Fees 
                    
6,300  

 
                           -  

 

                    
6,300  

Loan Proceeds 
                
152,000  

 
                           -  

 

                
152,000  

Total Anticipated Water Revenues  
            
1,078,913  

 
                           -  

 

            
1,078,913  

      Sewer Revenues 
     

Sewer Service Fees 
             
2,061,797  

 
                           -  

 

             
2,061,797  

Tapping Fees 
                       
550  

 
                           -  

 

                       
550  

Meter Setting 
                  
10,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
10,000  

Reconnection Fees 
                  
40,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
40,000  

Miscellaneous Revenues 
                  
12,100  

 
                           -  

 

                  
12,100  

Development Fees 
                  
44,000  

 
                           -  

 

                  
44,000  

Internet Convenience Fees 
                    
7,700  

 
                           -  

 

                    
7,700  

 
Total Anticipated Sewer Revenues  

            
2,176,147  

 
                           -  

 

            
2,176,147  

      

Total Anticipated W&S Revenues  
            
3,255,060  

 
                           -  

 

            
3,255,060  

      Authorized W&S Expenditures 
     

Water Expenditure 
             
1,078,913  

 
                           -  

 

             
1,078,913  

      
Sewer Expenditures 

             
2,176,147  

 
                           -  

 

             
2,176,147  

      

Total Authorized Expenditures 
            
3,255,060  

 
                           -  

 

            
3,255,060  

 

                           
-  

 
                           -  

 

                           
-  

 
 
 
 

     



SECTION III. PERPETUAL CARE FUND 

      
Anticipated Revenues 

                   
2,700  

 
                           -  

 

                   
2,700  

      
Authorized Expenditures 

                   
2,700  

 
                           -  

 

                   
2,700  

 

                           
-  

   

                           
-  

      SECTION IV.    TAX RATE ESTABILISHED 

An ad valorem tax rate of $0.53 per $100 at full valuation is hereby established as the official tax rate for 
the Town of Gibsonville for the fiscal year 2017-2018.  This rate is based on a total valuation of property 
of $575,538,354 and an estimated collection rate of 97.25%. 

      SECTION V. 

Charges for services and fees by Town Departments are levied in the amounts set forth in the Fee 
Schedule (See Attachment A). 

      SECTION VI.    SPECIAL AUTHORIZATION - BUDGET OFFICER 

A.  Budget Officer shall be authorized to reallocate departmental appropriations among various object of 
expenditures as he believes necessary. 

B.  The Budget Officer shall be authorized to effect interdepartmental transfers, in the same fund, not to 
exceed 10% of the appropriated monies for the department whose allocations is reduced.  Notation of all 
such transfers shall be made to the Board on the next succeeding Financial Report. 

C.  He may make interfund loans for a period of not more than 60 days. 

D.  Interfund transfers, established in the budget document may be accomplished without recourse to 
the Board. 

      SECTION VII.    RESTRICTION - BUDGET OFFICER 

A.  Interfund transfer of monies, except as noted in Section VI.  Shall be accomplished by the Board 
authorization only. 

B.  The utilization of any contingency appropriations shall be accomplished only with Board authorization. 

      SECTION VIII.    UTILIZATION OF BUDGET ORDINANCE 

This Ordinance Amendment and the Budget Document shall be the basis of the financial plan for the 
Gibsonville Municipal Government during the 2017-2018 fiscal year.  The Budget Officer shall administer 
the budget and shall insure that operating officials are provided guidance and sufficient details to 
implement their appropriate portion of the budget.  The accounting section shall establish records which 
are consonance with the Budget and this Ordinance and the appropriate statute of the State of North 
Carolina. 

 Amended this the 5th day of March, 2018. 

      

      

 
      

  Attest:  Mayor of Gibsonville, NC  
  

        
     Town Clerk of Gibsonville, NC 
           

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



-8- 

Veterans Day Holiday Discussion 

 Alderman Shepherd stated in the last three or four years it had been brought to his attention that State and Federal office 

close for Veteran’s Day; even other towns; but not the Town of Gibsonville.  He recommended that the Town of 

Gibsonville observe Veteran’s Day as a holiday.  He stated this was a way to honor our veterans.  He was not looking to 

take away but to add this as a Town observed holiday. He stated the Board discussed this at the Retreat and asked that it 

be placed on the March 5, 2018 agenda for additional discussion. 

 

Alderman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman Pleasants, made a motion to add Veteran’s Day as a Town holiday.  The 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

Discussion of Date of April Meeting 

Ben Baxley, Town Manager, stated there were some scheduling conflicts with the April regular meeting date. He 

recommended the April meeting be moved to April 10, 2018 due to staff conflicts. 

 

Mayor Williams stated the April meeting would be Tuesday; April 10, 2018. 

 

Reports 

a. Manager 
Ben Baxley, Town Manager, reminded the Board that the Gibsonville Elementary DARE Graduation would be this Friday 

at 12:45. He stated the Gibsonville Merchants Association would be having a business social on March 12, 2018 at the 

Burke Manor with State Representatives, Chamber of Commerce, and others attending.   

Alderman Shepherd stated he enjoyed the last social and planned on attending this one. 

Mr. Baxley stated the next Planning Board meeting would be March 15
th
. 

Brandon Parker, Planning Director, stated the developer of the Burlington Ave. rezoning had withdrew his request and 

would be resubmitting with a Special Use Permit. 

b. Mayor 
Mayor Williams stated the Board had a very productive retreat.  He stated they heard from all the departments and at the 

end the Town Manager asked the board to rate each department’s request. He stated the Town Manager gave the news 

media/reporters all the departments’ requests and the news only reported on the police departments requests.  He stated 

the Town Manager would present the budget for the board to approve. He stated they had to be reasonable about 

spending. He stated the Town Manager would come up with a budget that the board could support. He stated town 

expenditures were increasing as the town grew.  He stated there was no Powell Bill funding and funding for paving etc… 

had to come from the General Fund.  He stated the board would discuss the proposed budget at the budget hearing. 

Alderman Shepherd, seconded by Alderman Owen, made a motion to adjourn. The motion passed unanimously.  The 

meeting adjourned at 7:40 pm. 

 

         ______________________________ 

         Mayor 

Attest: 

___________________________________ 

Town Clerk 

 


